

# Consultation paper – proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

May 2023

#### **Summary**

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (Board) is updating its *Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia* and *Aotearoa New Zealand* (Physiotherapy practice thresholds)

You are invited to give feedback on the draft revised Physiotherapy practice thresholds.

#### **Providing feedback**

Public consultation runs from 5 May to 30 June 2023. This consultation paper includes the following documents:

- Proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Attachment A, page 7)
- Statement of assessment against Ahpra's *Procedures for the development of registration standards, codes and guidelines* (Attachment B, page 40)
- Patient and Consumer Health and Safety Impact Statement (Attachment C, page 44)
- Response template (Attachment D, page 47)

Feedback can be given, preferably, by completing the response template at attachment D and emailing it to physioconsultation@ahpra.gov.au. Alternatively, please submit your feedback as a Word document (not PDF) to the same email address by close of business on 30 June 2023.

The Board generally publishes submissions on its website to encourage discussion and inform the community and stakeholders. Published submissions will include the names of the individuals and/or the organisations that made them, unless confidentiality is expressly requested.

#### **Overview**

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (PhysioBA) and the Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand (PBNZ) are authorities responsible for the regulation of the physiotherapy profession in Australia and Aotearoa New

Zealand respectively, including the registration of physiotherapists and the accreditation of programs of study leading to approval of qualifications for registration as a physiotherapist.

The PhysioBA is a body corporate with perpetual succession and is established under the Health Practitioner National Law Act (National Law) as in force in each Australian state and territory. The National Law establishes the national registration and accreditation scheme. The objectives of the national registration and accreditation scheme are, in part, to provide for the protection of the (Australian) public by ensuring that only health practitioners who are suitably trained and qualified to practise in a competent and ethical manner are registered; and, to facilitate the rigorous and responsive assessment of overseas trained health practitioners.

The PBNZ is the regulatory authority for physiotherapists in New Zealand, established under the Health Practitioners Competence Assurance Act 2003 (HCPA Act). The principal purpose of this Act is to protect the health and safety of members of the (NZ) public by providing for mechanisms to ensure that health practitioners are competent and fit to practise their professions.



The PhysioBA and PBNZ have developed joint physiotherapy practice thresholds that describe entry-level practice for the physiotherapy profession in both Australia and New Zealand.

The physiotherapy practice thresholds are developed to meet the needs of both parties. Whilst the document is owned by the Boards (in Australia, the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency on behalf of the PhysioBA) it is acknowledged that the document has wide utility within and outside the profession.

On 1 May 2015, the PhysioBA and the PBNZ launched the Physiotherapy for the physiotherapy profession. These practice thresholds replaced the Standards for Physiotherapy (2006) (in Australia) and the Competencies for Physiotherapy practice in New Zealand (2009).

The PhysioBA and PBNZ committed to regularly review the practice thresholds to maintain their relevance to the expectations of threshold competence required for contemporary physiotherapy practice in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.

# **Trans-Tasman Mutual Recognition Agreement**

The PhysioBA and the PBNZ recognise the benefits of professional mobility made possible by the Trans-Tasman Mutual Recognition Arrangement (the TTMRA) and the legislation giving effect to this arrangement in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. In recognition of the TTMRA, the PhysioBA and the PBNZ intend to maintain, as much as possible, consistent the Physiotherapy practice thresholds across both countries.

#### **Background**

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (PhysioBA) and the Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand (PBNZ) worked together between 2012 and 2015 to develop and publish the Physiotherapy practice thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (referred to here as "Physiotherapy practice thresholds").

The purpose of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds is to describe the threshold competence required for initial and continuing registration as a physiotherapist in both Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.

#### Format of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds

The format of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds draws on a competency framework, the CanMEDS framework, developed by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (Royal College). The CanMEDS framework "describes the abilities physicians require to effectively meet the needs of the people they serve" (Frank, Snell, Sherbino et al, 2014, p 1). The CanMEDS framework emerged in the 1990s and was first launched by the Royal College in 1996 and subsequently updated in 2005. The Royal College will publish a third version in late 2015.

To ensure that the statements remain contemporary it is usual to review on a 5-year cycle.

Due to the early stage of the implementation of the practice thresholds and the limited number of programs which have been completed since the practice thresholds have been in place the Boards have agreed to update wording with only minor amendments proposed.

A full review will occur at a time when sufficient cohorts have graduated to allow for adequate feedback and data to be collected to conduct a more fulsome analysis of the effectiveness of the current practice thresholds.

The current Physiotherapy practice thresholds are located in the Accreditation section of the Board's website https://www.physiotherapyboard.gov.au/Accreditation

#### **Process to date**

Review of the practice thresholds was held off until late 2021 due to COVID19. Since early 2021 the Boards have worked together to agree the extent of the review and identify critical amendments.



The proposed changes were presented and approved by the PBNZ and PhysioBA at their respective Board meetings.

As per the recently revised AHPRA consultation process policy, any review of the practice thresholds would require preliminary consultation initially followed by a full public consultation.

The preliminary consultation took place in August to September 2022. The Board is now seeking further feedback from the wider public.

#### Objectives of the review

The objective of the review is to ensure that the practice thresholds relevant, contemporary and accurately reflect the respective Boards requirements of physiotherapists.

#### **Proposed changes to the current Practice Thresholds**

The purpose of the Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds is to describe the threshold competence required for initial and continuing registration as a physiotherapist in both Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.

The proposed changes include updated wording with minor changes within the role descriptors rather than additional roles or descriptors.

The proposed amendments include expansion and clarity to the key competencies.

The proposed amendments refer to:

- 1. Cultural safety and competence
- 2. digital competence, and
- 3. interprofessional collaboration.

**Cultural safety and competence** – the thresholds' proposed wording includes awareness, understanding and importance of cultural safety. This incorporates providing culturally safe care, communicating in a culturally safe way, as well as having awareness and understanding of any cultural biases.

**Digital competence** – Digital competence is proposed to be included has been added into the practice thresholds as it is technology is to be used professionally, competently and appropriately given the increasing use of reliance on this technology to deliver services remotely and share information.

**Interprofessional collaboration** – Interprofessional collaboration has been expanded proposed documents to include the importance of sharing information with multiple health professionals to ensure the health and care of the patient is collaborative to improve health outcomes for service users.

# The proposed amendments are provided below:

Content	Proposed amendments	Rationale
Inclusion of information on cultural safety.	Under the heading of Te Tiriti o Waitangi, and the Treaty of Waitangi, as the founding document in Aotearoa New Zealand, takes into consideration the four articles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi there is inclusions as to the context of	To require a contemporary understanding of the need for a safe cultural context and environment for Indigenous peoples.



Content	Proposed amendments	Rationale
	providing physiotherapy services.	
	Additional context background information regarding Aboriginal and Torres Islander Health Safety in the Cultural Competence and Safety section	
Role 1.1	Include the following:  -recognise and evaluate the social, cultural, personal and environmental factors that may impact on each client's functioning, disability and health -consider as part of the assessment, implementation and continuation of care cultural aspects that are relevant to your client through culturally safe communication and response -document in clinical record, ethnicity and where relevant cultural affiliation(s) - demonstrate working knowledge of relevant practice management systems and processes including digital health requirements.	These components were included to enable the practice threshold to consider the social and cultural considerations as part of client centred physiotherapy assessment.
Role 2 definition include the context of complying with the Te Tiriti o Waitangi	Within the Aotearoa New Zealand context, physiotherapists must comply with the articles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi as they relate to the health and wellbeing of Māori and Tauiwi	Updating of the thresholds to comply with HPCAA to reflect the cultural environment, respectfulness in our interactions with Māori.



Content	Proposed amendments	Rationale
Role 2.1	Inclusion of  - understand and demonstrate the implications and responsibilities of being an autonomous practitioner.  - respond to serious public health events, comply with public health orders and directives of all legal notices and Standards set.	This was included to reinforce the requirements of autonomous practise and in response to the recent public health. events such as the COVID-19 pandemic and responsibilities to public health.
Role 3.1B	Inclusion of:  or digital engagement and have available culturally safe patient/caregiver information related to the service provider	
Role 3.1	Inclusion of cultural safety when communicating.	Expand on the perspective of the
Role 5.1	Inclusion of cultural safety when collaborating	Indigenous peoples and how communication is different and impacts on
Role 6.2	Inclusion of Cultural safety when demonstrating and educating.	health outcomes
7.1B	Minor word change	To align with other wording in enabling components.
Glossary	Including the definition of Cultural safety	To ensure there is consistency application of the term Cultural Safety.
Glossary	Te Tiriti o Waitangi and the Treaty of Waitangi	Contemporaneous definition and application
Glossary	Include Digital Health in the definitions.	To ensure there is consistency understanding application of the terminology
Glossary	Include a definition of autonomous practitioner	To ensure there is consistency application of the term autonomous practitioner.
Glossary	Include a definition of digital competence.	To ensure there is consistency application of the term digital competence.
Glossary	Include definition of cultural responsiveness.	To ensure there is consistent understanding of cultural responsiveness.



Content	Proposed amendments	Rationale
Glossary	Include definition of digital Health practice.	To ensure there is consistent understanding of digital health practice.

#### **Options statement**

**Option 1** – Status quo – continue with the existing physiotherapy practice thresholds with no opportunity to test proposed updates with stakeholders.

**Option 2** – Consultation on proposed rewording of the of physiotherapy practice thresholds to ensure that the practice thresholds remain relevant, contemporary, and accurately reflect the respective Boards' requirements of physiotherapists.

Option 2 is preferred.

# Questions for consideration

The PhysioBA and PBNZ are inviting feedback on the following questions:

- 1. How clear are the proposed draft changes?
- 2. How appropriate are the proposed draft changes?
- 3. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed draft changes to the practice thresholds?
- 4. Please describe anything that needs to be changed or deleted in regard to the proposed **draft changes**.
- 5. Is there anything that needs to be added to the Practice Thresholds?
- 6. It is proposed that the Practice Thresholds will be reviewed every five years.

Is this reasonable?

- 7. Do you have any additional comments or feedback on the draft proposed amendments to the practice thresholds?
- 8. Please describe anything else the Boards should consider in the review of the Practice Thresholds.

#### **Next Steps**

The Board review and consider the feedback from this consultation before finalising the physiotherapy Practice thresholds.

#### **Attachments**

Attachment A: Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

Attachment B: The Board's statement of assessment against Ahpra's Procedures for the development of

registration standards, codes and guidelines.

Attachment C: The Board's Patient and Consumer Health and Safety Impact Statement

Attachment D: Response template



# Attachment A: Proposed physiotherapy practice thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds describe the threshold competence required for initial and continuing registration as a physiotherapist in both Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.

#### **Contents**

- Introduction
- Physiotherapy practice in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand
- Overview of roles and key competencies
- Role 1: Physiotherapy practitioner
- Role 2: Professional and ethical practitioner
- Role 3: Communicator
- Role 4: Reflective practitioner and self-directed learner
- Role 5: Collaborative practitioner
- Role 6: Educator
- Role 7: Manager/leader
- Glossary
- Bibliography
- Appendix 1: Regulation of physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

#### Introduction

#### **Background to the Physiotherapy practice thresholds**

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (PhysioBA) and the Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand (PBNZ) worked together between 2012 and 2015 to develop and publish the Physiotherapy practice thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (referred to here as 'Physiotherapy practice thresholds').

The PhysioBA and PBNZ will regularly review the published Physiotherapy practice thresholds to maintain their relevance to the expectations of threshold competence required for contemporary physiotherapy practice in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.

#### Purpose of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds describe the threshold competence required for initial and continuing registration as a physiotherapist in both Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

#### Format of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds



The format of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds draws on a competency framework, the CanMEDS framework, developed by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (Royal College). The CanMEDS framework 'describes the abilities physicians require to effectively meet the needs of the people they serve' (Frank, Snell, Sherbino et al, 2014, p 1). The CanMEDS framework emerged in the 1990s and was first launched by the Royal College in 1996 and subsequently updated in 2005. The Royal College published the third version in 2015.

The main feature of the CanMEDS framework is the thematic arrangement of competencies based on seven integrated roles of physicians in practice. The thematic arrangement of competencies based on roles of practitioners in practice, drawing on the CanMEDS framework, has gained acceptance in several other countries. The medical profession in Australia, Aotearoa New Zealand, Denmark and the Netherlands has adapted the CanMEDS framework for entry to medical practice. Other professions, including the physiotherapy profession in Canada and the Netherlands, have drawn on the CanMEDS framework to describe the competencies that are 'essential' at the beginning of, and throughout, a practitioner's career.

In applying the CanMEDS approach, the Physiotherapy practice thresholds arrange key competencies within seven integrated and thematic roles: *Physiotherapy practitioner, Professional and ethical practitioner, Communicator, Reflective practitioner and self-directed learner, Collaborative practitioner, Educator and Manager/leader.* Although the Physiotherapy practice thresholds arrange key competencies within separate roles, the *Physiotherapy practitioner* role is central to physiotherapy practice in any context, and, as practitioners, physiotherapists integrate the other roles in the Physiotherapy practice thresholds with that central role as they apply to the context of the physiotherapist's practice.<sup>1</sup>

#### The Physiotherapy practice thresholds expand on each of the seven roles at three levels:

- 1. role definition
- 2. key competencies
- 3. enabling components

'Role definition' describes the essential characteristics of physiotherapy practice encompassed by the corresponding key competencies. When combined, the seven role definitions describe the essential characteristics of a competent registered physiotherapist in both Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.

'Key competencies' are described for each role. The key competencies are the practices necessary for a physiotherapist to safely and effectively perform the central role of physiotherapy practitioner in a range of contexts and situations of varying levels of complexity, ambiguity and uncertainty.<sup>2</sup> An individual should demonstrate threshold competence for all key competencies relevant to their field of practice.

'Enabling components' describe the essential and measurable characteristics of threshold competence for the corresponding key competency. Threshold competence requires an individual's practice to comprise all the enabling components for the corresponding key competency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The integration of the central role of the Physiotherapy practitioner with the other roles is best illustrated by the CanMEDS diagram. The CanMEDS diagram has not been reproduced or adapted in this document because it is officially trademarked. It can be viewed at www.royalcollege.ca/portal/page/portal/rc/resources/ about CanMEDS.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The context of a physiotherapist's practice may not be limited to (and may not include) direct clinical care. Many of the abilities described in the key competencies are required in direct non-clinical relationships with patients or clients. The abilities are also required when registered physiotherapists work in management, administration, education, research, policy development, advisory contexts, regulatory contexts or other contexts impacting on public health and safety.



The language used in the Physiotherapy practice thresholds describes behaviours that characterise threshold competence in practice.<sup>3</sup> Each key competency and enabling component are prefaced by the words 'Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to'.

The key competencies and enabling components embed the complex conceptual, analytical and behavioural elements that integrate foundational abilities, such as the knowledge, skills, attitudes, values and judgements, that may be learnt in entry-level programmes. The Physiotherapy practice thresholds do not explicitly identify the corresponding foundational abilities (knowledge, skills, attitudes, values and judgements) that may be learnt in entry-level programmes at the level of task-oriented elements that, in isolation, do not assure threshold competence in practice.

#### Uses of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds

The PhysioBA and PBNZ each have statutory functions as regulators of the physiotherapy profession in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand respectively. One statutory function of the PhysioBA is 'to register suitably qualified and competent persons in the health profession'.<sup>4</sup> One of the statutory functions of the PBNZ is 'to set standards of clinical competence, cultural competence (including competencies that will enable effective and respectful interaction with Māori), and ethical conduct to be observed by health practitioners of the profession'.<sup>5</sup>

The PhysioBA and PBNZ use the Physiotherapy practice thresholds as a reference point of threshold competence when exercising their statutory functions, including for:

- registration of individuals who completed an approved physiotherapy programme in Australia or a
  prescribed physiotherapy qualification in Aotearoa New Zealand (see section headed 'Physiotherapy
  practice thresholds and accreditation of physiotherapy education in Australia and Aotearoa New
  Zealand' for more details)
- registration of individuals who complete their initial physiotherapy qualifications in other countries
- re-registration of individuals who were previously registered as a physiotherapist in Australia or Aotearoa New Zealand, and
- evaluation of a registrant whose level of competence to practise may pose a risk of harm to the public, for example, if the PBNZ or PhysioBA receives a complaint or notification about that registrant.

The PhysioBA and PBNZ recognise that other organisations and individuals may use the Physiotherapy practice thresholds as a reference point of threshold competence for other purposes. This could include registrants' self-assessment of their competence, employers' performance evaluation and management of physiotherapists in the workplace, and the development of health policy and health workforce strategy by agencies responsible for such work.

# Physiotherapy practice thresholds and accreditation of physiotherapy education in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

The PhysioBA and PBNZ do not generally directly examine or assess the competence of applicants for registration who completed their physiotherapy studies in Australia or Aotearoa New Zealand, if the programme of study is approved (Australia) or their qualification is prescribed (Aotearoa New Zealand).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Unlike the Australian Standards for Physiotherapy (2006) and the Physiotherapy Competencies for Physiotherapy Practice in New Zealand (2009), the Physiotherapy practice thresholds do not "deconstruct" the key competencies or enabling components into task-oriented performance criteria or examples of evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 35(1)(a) of the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law Act as in force in each state and territory in Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Section 118 of the Health Practitioners Competence Assurance Act 2003 (NZ).



Instead, the PhysioBA and PBNZ have approved accreditation and/or audit arrangements that enable them to consider these applicants suitably competent for registration as a physiotherapist in the respective country.

As part of the accreditation/audit arrangements, the PhysioBA and PBNZ appoint an accreditation and/or audit body to assess if the physiotherapy programme, and the institution that delivers it, provides students with the knowledge, skills and professional attributes to practise physiotherapy. In Australia, the PhysioBA has approved the accreditation standards developed and used by its accreditation body – the Australian Physiotherapy Council.

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds are not accreditation standards but are, as noted, a reference point for the threshold competence required for initial and continuing registration as a physiotherapist in both Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. The language used in the Physiotherapy practice thresholds describes abilities in practice. The Physiotherapy practice thresholds do not explicitly identify the corresponding foundational abilities (knowledge, skills, attitudes, values and judgements) that may be learnt in entry-level programmes.

#### Concept of threshold competence

'Threshold competence' is used here to describe the competence level required to practise as a registered physiotherapist in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. This is based on the premise that competence levels can be described on a continuum. The threshold represents the point on the continuum that delineates a minimum acceptable level of competence to practise as a physiotherapist. This level is described as 'threshold competence'.



Figure 1: Continuum of threshold competence

Figure 1 illustrates the concept of a line on the competence continuum delineating 'threshold competence'. The purple arrow represents the competence on the continuum above the threshold. The red area represents gradations of competence on the continuum below the threshold. The line labelled 'Physiotherapy practice thresholds' is the lower margin of the purple arrow – that is, the minimum level of competence required to practise as a registered physiotherapist in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.



Threshold competence is often referred to as 'entry-level' competence and is described from the perspective of an individual wishing to enter practice from below the line representing threshold competence. This approach often describes competence in the context of the current requirements for graduates of education programmes in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand to enter practice. Entry-level competence described from this perspective frequently comprises task-oriented statements that identify the foundational abilities (knowledge, skills, attitudes, values and judgements) acquired in entry-level programmes during development of the key competencies necessary to practise as a registered physiotherapist at the time the competencies are written.

Rather than describing competence from the perspective of an individual wishing to enter practice from below the line representing threshold competence, the Physiotherapy practice thresholds describe physiotherapy practice at the line representing threshold competence. This perspective defines competence in the context of practice as a physiotherapist and is applicable to a range of contexts including individuals entering from education programmes in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. These contexts include physiotherapy practice across various settings and different chosen fields of practice.

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds use key competencies and enabling components to describe threshold competence. The key competencies and enabling components take into account the complex conceptual, analytical and behavioural elements that integrate competent performance of observable abilities into physiotherapy practice relevant to the key competency. The foundational abilities, such as the knowledge, skills, attitudes, values and judgements, that may be learnt in entry-level programmes are integrated in the abilities described by the key competencies and enabling components of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds.

#### Maintenance of competence

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds are relevant throughout a registered physiotherapist's career. They describe the minimum level of competence that all registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand must maintain for continuing registration.

The PhysioBA and PBNZ recognise that each physiotherapist's level of competence and chosen field of practice may change over time. Physiotherapists may focus on a particular client group or area of physiotherapy specialisation, or work in roles that do not involve direct client care, such as research, education or management. The fields of physiotherapy practice will also change as new roles emerge in an evolving health-care environment.

Each registered physiotherapist must continue to demonstrate at least the minimum level of competence described by the Physiotherapy practice thresholds in the context of their chosen field of practice. If a physiotherapist wants to change their chosen field of practice, they need to first ensure they can demonstrate at least the minimum level of competence described by the Physiotherapy practice thresholds in the context of their changed field of practice.

A physiotherapist practising below threshold competence may pose a risk to the public. The PhysioBA and PBNZ recognise that many physiotherapists will seek to ensure they excel and maintain a higher level of competence than the threshold.

#### **Essential components of threshold competence**

The behaviours listed below are essential components of threshold competence for initial and continuing registration as a physiotherapist in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. These behaviours apply across the key competencies and enabling components but are described below to avoid repetition.

Physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand always:

behave professionally and ethically



- consider each client as a whole, adopt client-centred and family/whanau focused (where relevant)
  approaches and prioritise cultural safety and cultural respect
- obtain the client's informed consent before acting and acknowledge the inherent power imbalance in the physiotherapist—client therapeutic relationship
- reflect on their practice, recognise the limits of their clinical expertise and competence and take timely action to effectively manage risk in their practice
- use evidence-based practice to support clinical decision-making
- integrate knowledge of pathology, anatomy, physiology and other core biomedical sciences relevant to human health and function, encompassing cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, neurological and other body systems, within the context of physiotherapy and the client's needs.

#### Physiotherapy practice thresholds and assessment of competence

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia and PBNZ use the Physiotherapy practice thresholds as a reference point of threshold competence, including for:

- registration of individuals who completed an approved physiotherapy programme in Australia or a
  prescribed physiotherapy qualification in Aotearoa New Zealand (see section headed 'Physiotherapy
  practice thresholds and accreditation of physiotherapy education in Australia and Aotearoa New
  Zealand' for more details)
- registration of individuals who complete their initial physiotherapy qualifications in other countries
- re-registration of individuals who were previously registered as a physiotherapist in Australia or Aotearoa New Zealand, and
- evaluation of a registrant whose level of competence to practise may pose a risk of harm to the public, for example, if the Boards receive a complaint or notification about that registrant.

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds provide a consistent reference point for assessing an individual's performance in the relevant context of physiotherapy practice. This includes assessment of:

- a physiotherapist's performance in the context of the workplace or a simulated setting for maintenance of registration
- a physiotherapy student's performance in the context of a clinical placement or simulated setting for education purposes
- individuals who were previously registered as a physiotherapist in Australia or Aotearoa New Zealand in the context of a competence assessment fore-registration
- individuals who qualify as physiotherapists in other countries in the context of a competence assessment for initial registration in Australia or Aotearoa New Zealand.

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds also provide a consistent reference point for threshold competence in the context of practice relevant to each of these assessments.

The key competencies and enabling components describe abilities that can be assessed in practice and provide a reference point of threshold competence that can be applied across a range of contexts of practice. Unlike the Australian Standards for Physiotherapy (2006) and the Physiotherapy Competencies for



Physiotherapy Practice in New Zealand (2009), the Physiotherapy practice thresholds framework does not 'deconstruct' the key competencies or enabling components into task-oriented performance criteria or examples of evidence that reflect the context of current education in Australia or Aotearoa New Zealand. In an educational context, these abilities may be 'deconstructed' into task-oriented performance criteria relevant to the foundational abilities integrated at the threshold competence level.

The Assessment of Physiotherapy Practice (APP) instrument established performance indicators and a rating scale for valid measurement of physiotherapy students' level of professional competence in workplace practice (Dalton, Davidson & Keating, 2011). The APP was developed after the Australian Standards for Physiotherapy (2006) and the Physiotherapy Competencies for Physiotherapy Practice in New Zealand (2009) were published and embedded in the accreditation standards for physiotherapy programmes in Australia.

Like the Australian Standards for Physiotherapy (2006) and Physiotherapy Competencies for Physiotherapy Practice in New Zealand (2009), the Physiotherapy practice thresholds framework is not designed as a 'standalone' means of measuring competence.

The framework supports the establishment of additional performance indicators and rating scales for valid measurement of physiotherapists' competence for different purposes, in different settings and across different chosen fields of practice.

The context of a physiotherapist's practice may not be limited to (and may not include) direct clinical care. Many of the abilities described in the key competencies are required in direct non- clinical relationships with clients. The abilities are also required when registered physiotherapists work in management, administration, education, research, policy development, advisory contexts, regulatory or other contexts that have an impact on safe, effective delivery of health services in physiotherapy. The performance indicators and rating scales for valid measurement of physiotherapists' competence will depend upon the purpose of the assessment of an individual's competence and the context of physiotherapy practice in which the assessment is taking place.

#### Terms used in this document

A glossary of terms is provided at the end of this document to help the reader's understanding of the content covered here.



#### Physiotherapy practice in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

Physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand practise within a legislated regulatory framework (see Appendix 1). Only individuals who hold current registration with the PhysioBA (in Australia) and PBNZ (in Aotearoa New Zealand) are permitted to use the professional title 'physiotherapist'. In Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand, individuals are generally able to consult a physiotherapist without a third-party referral. This is often referred to as 'primary contact' or 'direct access' physiotherapy practice. If a third party, such as a government department or an insurer, is paying for a client's physiotherapy, the payment arrangement may require the client to consult another professional before attending physiotherapy.

It is relevant to describe physiotherapy practice in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand because the Physiotherapy practice thresholds describe the threshold competence required for initial and continuing registration as a physiotherapist in each country.

#### **Description of physiotherapy**

The PBNZ has published the following description of the general scope of practice for physiotherapists in Aotearoa New Zealand:

Physiotherapy provides services to individuals and populations to develop, maintain, restore and optimise health and function throughout the lifespan. This includes providing services to people compromised by ageing, injury, disease or environmental factors.

Physiotherapy identifies and maximises quality of life and movement potential by using the principles of promotion, prevention, treatment/intervention, habilitation and rehabilitation. This encompasses physical, psychological, emotional, and social well-being.

Physiotherapy involves the interaction between physiotherapists, patients/clients, other health professionals, families/whanau, care givers, and communities. This is a people- centred process where needs are assessed, and goals are agreed using the knowledge and skills of physiotherapists.

Physiotherapists are registered health practitioners who are educated to practise autonomously by applying scientific knowledge and clinical reasoning to assess, diagnose and manage human function.

The practice of physiotherapy is not confined to clinical practice and encompasses all roles that a physiotherapist may assume such as patient/client care, health management, research, policy making, educating and consulting, wherever there may be an issue of public health and safety.

In Australia, general registration allows unrestricted clinical practice within a practitioner's scope of practice. Unlike Aotearoa New Zealand, there is no defined scope of practice for physiotherapists in Australia. Scopes of practice vary according to different roles; for example, practitioners, researchers and managers will all have quite different competence and scopes of practice. The PhysioBA has published a definition of 'practice'.7 The following description is based on that definition:

Physiotherapy practice is any role, whether remunerated or not, in which the individual uses their skills and knowledge as a physiotherapist ... practice is not restricted to the provision of direct clinical care. It also includes using professional knowledge in a direct non-clinical relationship with patients or clients, working in management, administration, education, research, advisory, regulatory or policy development roles and any other roles that have an impact on safe, effective delivery of health services in physiotherapy.

#### Key features of physiotherapy in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

Physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand share a culture of professionalism and ethical practice and are generally regarded by the community as socially responsible, trustworthy and credible.



Throughout their careers, physiotherapists engage in professional development and practice to continuously maintain competence within their chosen field of practice.

Some physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand further develop their chosen field of practice and work in roles that require advanced levels of competence. Many physiotherapists take on responsibilities other than direct client care. They may work in management, administration, education, research, advisory, regulatory or policy development roles and many other roles that have an impact on safe, effective delivery of health services. Physiotherapists are well suited to roles that require critical thinking, reasoned decision-making, advanced communication skills, problem-solving skills, leadership and intellectual capacity for innovative and lateral thinking.

Physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand work in partnership with individuals and populations to optimise their function and quality of life. Physiotherapists promote health and implement strategies to prevent and minimise impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions including those associated with complex and chronic conditions.

Physiotherapists consider each client as a whole and facilitate each client's self- management. They evaluate each client's environment and recognise personal factors that may affect that client's functioning, disability and health. Physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand consider these factors and client preferences as part of their evidence-based practice.

#### **Cultural competence and safety**

Physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand must be able to work effectively with people whose cultural realities are different from their own.

#### Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples have inhabited and cared for the land as the first peoples of Australia for millennia, and their diverse histories and cultures have uniquely shaped our nation. Aboriginal health means not just the physical wellbeing of an individual but refers to the social, emotional and cultural wellbeing of the whole community in which each individual is able to achieve their full potential as a human being, thereby bringing about the total wellbeing of their community. It is a whole-of-life view and includes the cyclical concept of life-death-life.

Understanding and acknowledging factors such as colonisation and its impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples' health, helps inform care. In particular, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples bear the burden of gross social and health inequity. It is for these reasons that cultural safety in the context of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health needs to be specifically considered.

#### **Cultural safety for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples**

Physiotherapists supports the health of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples, including cultural safety. For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples, the National Registration and Accreditation Scheme's definition of cultural safety is as follows.

Cultural safety is determined by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander individuals, families and communities.

Culturally safe practice is the ongoing critical reflection of health practitioner knowledge, skills, attitudes, practising behaviours and power differentials in delivering safe, accessible and responsive healthcare free of racism.

To ensure culturally safe and respectful practice, medical practitioners must:

a) Acknowledge colonisation and systemic racism, social, cultural, behavioural and economic factors which impact individual and community health



- b) Acknowledge and address individual racism, their own biases, assumptions, stereotypes and prejudice and provide care that is holistic, free of bias and racism
- c) Recognise the importance of self-determined decision-making, partnership and collaboration in healthcare which is driven by the individual, family and community
- d) Foster a safe working environment through leadership to support the rights and dignity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and colleagues.

#### **Cultural safety for all communities (in Australia)**

Cultural safety as defined above for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples specifically for their status as First Nations Peoples. Culturally safe and respectful practice is also important for all communities. Australia is a culturally and linguistically diverse nation.

Culturally safe practice requires you to understand how your own culture, values, attitudes, assumptions and beliefs influence your interactions with patients and their families, the community, colleagues and team members.

Culturally safe care acknowledges the social, economic, cultural, historic and behavioural factors influencing the health of individuals, communities and populations. It is characterised by respect for the diverse cultures, beliefs, gender identities, sexualities and experiences of people, including patients and their families, colleagues and team members.

Cultural safety involves understanding what individual patients and/or their family believe is culturally safe.

Culturally safe and respectful practice requires genuine efforts to adapt your practice as needed, to respect diversity and avoid bias, discrimination and racism. It also involves challenging assumptions that may be based on, for example, gender, disability, race, ethnicity, religion, sexuality, age or political beliefs. Culturally safe practice, like all good clinical practice, does not require physiotherapists to provide care that is clinically unsafe or inappropriate.

Physiotherapists can create a positive, inclusive, culturally safe work environment by practising in a way that is culturally safe and supports the rights, dignity and safety of others.

#### Te Tiriti o Waitangi, and the Treaty of Waitangi

Te Tiriti o Waitangi (Māori text), and the Treaty of Waitangi are founding documents of Aotearoa and informs legislation, policy and practice. The Crown has a responsibility to meet its obligations under Te Tiriti o Waitangi to see all People of Aotearoa living longer, healthier and more independent lives. Alongside this, the Health Practitioners Competence Assurance Act 2003 (NZ) requires health regulatory authorities, such as the Physiotherapy Board of NZ, to ensure registered health professionals set standards of clinical competence, cultural competence (including competencies that will enable effective and respectful interaction with Māori), To practise effectively in Aotearoa New Zealand, a physiotherapist therefore needs, in addition to meeting cultural competence, to understand the relevance and be able to demonstrate contemporary application of Te Tiriti o Waitangi, and the Treaty of Waitangi's three articles plus the declaration of the Māori Text and well as the principles and incorporate the four cornerstones of Māori health, which are whānau (family health), tinana (physical health), hinengaro (mental health) and wairua (spiritual health).

Under Article 1 Concepts of Kāwangatanga (Governance) Mana motuhake

Under Article 2 to enable Māori to exercise authority over their health and wellbeing

Under Article 3 to have equal rights - access and achieve equitable health outcomes for all

Ritenga Māori declaration in ways that enable Māori to live, thrive and flourish as Māori

The principles include:



Equity requires the Crown to commit to achieving equitable health outcomes for Māori.

Active Protection involves the Crown working with Māori have at least the same level of health as non-Māori and safeguarding Māori cultural concepts, values and practices.

Options requires the Crown to provide for and resource kaupapa Māori health and disability services and ensures services are provided in a culturally appropriate way recognising and supporting the expression of hauora Māori models of care

Partnership involves working together with mutual benefits with non-Māori iwi, hapū, whānau and Māori communities to develop strategies for Māori health gain and appropriate health and disability services.

Participation requires Māori to be involved at all levels of the health and disability sector, including in decision-making, planning, development and delivery of health and disability services.

#### Contexts of physiotherapy in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

Physiotherapists work across a diverse range of clinical and non-clinical settings in urban as well as regional, rural and remote geographical locations.

Contexts of physiotherapy practice and the ways physiotherapists work in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand will change as health workforce roles evolve and new roles and technologies emerge.

The key competencies in the Physiotherapy practice thresholds apply to all contexts of physiotherapy practice, irrespective of setting, location, environment, use of technology, field of practice or workforce role.

#### Assumptions applying to the Physiotherapy practice thresholds

The Physiotherapy practice thresholds assume that, in addition to demonstrating threshold competence for initial and continuing registration, all physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand have completed a professional entry-level physiotherapy programme leading to a higher education qualification in physiotherapy.

Successful completion of the physiotherapy programme should generally include learning and assessment of all the following foundational abilities:

- knowledge of relevant anatomy, physiology, pathology, other biomedical sciences relevant to human health and function, and psychosocial and other determinants of health encompassing cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, neurological and other body systems within the context of physiotherapy and best available research evidence, and
- knowledge and understanding of theoretical concepts and principles relevant to physiotherapy practice including evidence-based practice, and
- knowledge and understanding of theoretical concepts and principles relevant to physiotherapy
  practice with clients across the lifespan, from birth to end of life care, who present with one or more
  problems such as pain and/or impairment or dysfunction contributing to impairment, activity limitations
  and participation restrictions, and
- knowledge and understanding of theoretical concepts and principles relevant to physiotherapy practice across acute, rehabilitation and community practice in a range of environments and settings, and
- competence to practise as a physiotherapist autonomously as well as a member of an interprofessional team in relevant clinical situations, and



 knowledge and understanding of theoretical concepts and principles relevant to physiotherapy practice in health promotion and facilitation of client self-management strategies to enhance their health and well-being.

If a physiotherapist's studies led to a higher education qualification in physiotherapy but did not address the matters listed above, it is assumed the individual subsequently completed an examination or assessment to measure their competence before initial registration as a physiotherapist in Australia or Aotearoa New Zealand.



# Overview of roles and key competencies

Role	Key competencies	
	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	
	1.1 plan and implement an efficient, effective, culturally safe and responsive and client-centred physiotherapy assessment	
Role 1: Physiotherapy practitioner	1.2 involve the client and relevant others in the planning and implementation of safe and effective physiotherapy using evidence-based practice to inform decision-making	
	1.3 review the continuation of physiotherapy and facilitate the client's optimal participation in their everyday life	
	1.4 advocate for clients and their rights to health care	
Role 2:	2.1 comply with legal, professional, ethical and other relevant standards, codes and guidelines	
Professional and ethical practitioner	2.2 make and act on informed and appropriate decisions about acceptable professional and ethical behaviours	
	2.3 recognise the need for, and implement, appropriate strategies to manage their physical and mental health and resilience	
Role 3:	3.1 use clear, accurate, sensitive and effective communication to support the development of trust and rapport in professional relationships with the client and relevant others	
Communicator	3.2 record and effectively communicate physiotherapy assessment findings, outcomes and decisions	
	3.3 deal effectively with actual and potential conflict in a proactive and constructive manner	
	4.1 assess their practice against relevant professional benchmarks and take action to continually improve their practice	
Role 4: Reflective practitioner and self-	4.2 evaluate their learning needs, engage in relevant continuing professional development and recognise when to seek professional support, including peer review	
directed learner	4.3 efficiently consume and effectively apply research and commit to practice informed by best available research evidence and new knowledge	



	4.4 proactively apply principles of quality improvement and risk management to practice
	4.5 recognise situations that are outside their scope of expertise or competence and take appropriate and timely action
Role 5: Collaborative	5.1 engage in an inclusive, collaborative, consultative, culturally responsive and client-centred model of practice
practitioner	5.2 engage in safe, effective and collaborative interprofessional practice
Role 6:	6.1 use education to empower themselves and others
Educator	6.2 seek opportunities to lead the education of others, including physiotherapy students, as appropriate, within the physiotherapy setting
Role 7: Manager/leader	7.1 organise and prioritise their workload and resources to provide safe, effective and efficient physiotherapy autonomously and, where relevant, as a team member
	7.2 lead others effectively and efficiently within relevant professional, ethical and legal frameworks



### **Role 1: Physiotherapy practitioner**

#### **Definition**

As practitioners, physiotherapists integrate the other roles in the Physiotherapy practice thresholds with this central role in their practice context by working in partnership with individuals and populations to optimise their function and quality of life, promote health and implement strategies informed by best available research evidence to prevent and minimise impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions including those associated with complex, acute and chronic conditions.

Specifically, within the Aotearoa New Zealand context, Māori cultural safety and competence is a requirement to practice.

Key competencies	Enabling components
Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:
1.1 plan and implement an efficient, effective, culturally safe and responsive and client-centred physiotherapy assessment	<ul> <li>1.1A recognise and evaluate the social, cultural, personal and environmental factors that may impact on each client's functioning, disability and health</li> <li>1.1B consider as part of the assessment, implementation and continuation of care, cultural aspects that are relevant to your client through culturally safe communication and response</li> <li>1.1C document in clinical record, ethnicity and where relevant cultural affiliation(s)</li> <li>1.1D demonstrate working knowledge of relevant practice management systems and processes including digital health requirements</li> <li>1.1E effectively share information and explanations with the client and relevant others about the purpose of physiotherapy assessment, any relevant risks and options</li> <li>1.1F plan a physiotherapy assessment drawing on applied knowledge of pathology, anatomy, physiology, other core biomedical sciences relevant to human health and function and determinants of health relevant to the client's impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions</li> <li>1.1G collect information about the client's prior function, physical abilities and participation and identify the client's expectations of physiotherapy</li> <li>1.1H incorporate relevant diagnostic tests, assessment tools and outcome measures during the physiotherapy assessment</li> <li>1.1 analyse the client's response and information gathered during the physiotherapy assessment using clinical reasoning to identify any relationships between assessmentfindings and modify the assessment appropriately</li> <li>1.1J reflect on the client's presenting problems and information gathered during the physiotherapy assessment and use clinical reasoning to explore and explain the diagnosis and/or causes of presenting problems</li> <li>1.1K assist and support the client, other health professionals and relevant othersto make informed health-care decisions by sharing information and explanations about the outcomes of the physiotherapy assessment and diagnosis and, where relevant</li></ul>



1.2 involve the client and relevant others in the planning and implementation of safe and effective physiotherapy, using evidence-based practice to inform decision- making	<ul> <li>1.2A effectively share information and explanations with the client, other health professionals and relevant others about the physiotherapy options available across a range of therapeutic approaches and environments to manage the client's presenting problems, and the benefits and realistic expectations of the risks and outcomes associated with each option</li> <li>1.2B facilitate discussions with the client and relevant others to reach agreed goals of physiotherapy that reflect realistic expectations of the risks and likely outcomes</li> <li>1.2C involve the client and relevant others in planning and implementing physiotherapy consistent with the agreed goals</li> <li>1.2D use specific and relevant measures to evaluate a client's response to physiotherapy, and recognise when that response is not as expected</li> <li>1.2E share information and explanations with the client other health professionals and</li> </ul>
1.3 review the continuation of physiotherapy and facilitate the client's optimal participation in their everyday life	<ul> <li>1.3A recognise the complex and interrelated factors including social, economic, physical, historical, political and cultural determinants that may impact on the client, their needs and response to physiotherapy</li> <li>1.3B engage with the client and relevant others to facilitate the client's optimal participation in their everyday life</li> <li>1.3C engage with the client and relevant others to develop an agreed plan to review the continuation of physiotherapy, recognize when physiotherapy is not suitable for the client and identify and facilitate access to more suitable options, including referral to other professionals</li> <li>1.3D when relevant, facilitate the client's transition to a new context, refer for further physiotherapy and link the client to relevant clinical and non-clinical support services</li> <li>1.3E engage with the client and relevant others to promote health, well-being and client self-management</li> </ul>
1.4 advocate for clients and their rights to health care	<ul> <li>1.4A recognise the client's knowledge, experiences and culture are integral to effectively addressing the presenting health issue and/or restoring function</li> <li>1.4B reflect on cultural factors and respond to the rights and cultural needs of the client and relevant others</li> <li>1.4C advocate for the client's equitable access to effective physiotherapy, other professionals and services that address their needs as a whole person, acknowledging that access broadly includes availability, affordability, acceptability and appropriateness</li> <li>1.4D recognise when the client's access to physiotherapy could be improved by resources such as technology and take action to facilitate that access when relevant</li> <li>1.4E where relevant, advocate for adequate resources to meet service goals and achieve positive outcomes of physiotherapy for their clients</li> </ul>



#### Role 2: Professional and ethical practitioner

#### **Definition**

As professional and ethical practitioners, physiotherapists are committed to standards of behaviour that comply with their legal, professional, culturally safe and ethical obligations, and managing their physical, spiritual and mental health. Within the Aotearoa New Zealand context, physiotherapists must comply with the articles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi as they relate to the health and wellbeing of Māori and Tauiwi.

Key competencies	Enabling components
Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:
2.1 comply with legal, professional, ethical, cultural and other relevant standards, codes and guidelines	<ul> <li>2.1A understand and demonstrate the implications and responsibilities of being an autonomous practitioner.</li> <li>2.1B recognise the client's health-care rights and prioritise the client's needs, rights and interests, including their physical and cultural safety</li> <li>2.1C provide ongoing opportunities for the client to make informed decisions and consent tophysiotherapy</li> <li>2.1D meet their legal, professional and ethical duties and obligations to clients, other health professionals, relevant others, regulators, insurers and/or funders, and the community more broadly</li> <li>2.1E deliver care that is holistic and free of racism</li> <li>2.1F complete documentation accurately and legibly using language and formatting that complies with relevant professional and legal obligations</li> <li>2.1G comply with confidentiality and privacy requirements when sharing the client's health and personal information</li> <li>2.1H comply with work health and safety obligations relevant to their practice context and the environment</li> <li>2.1I recognise and respect professional boundaries in professional and therapeutic relationships</li> <li>2.1J recognise and effectively manage conflicts of interest</li> <li>2.1K comply with legal and regulatory obligations when dealing with the client's health and personal information, client's health records and other physiotherapy documentation</li> <li>2.1L recognise inappropriate or unethical health practice and comply with relevant professional and legalobligations</li> <li>2.1M respond to serious public health events, comply with public health orders and directives of all legal notices and Standards set</li> </ul>
2.2 make and act on informed and appropriate decisions about acceptable professional, cultural and ethical behaviours	<ul> <li>2.2A comply with statutory requirements and standards for physiotherapy at all times</li> <li>2.2B show compassion, empathy and respect for clients, relevant others and professional colleagues</li> <li>2.2C recognise and evaluate the socio-cultural and socio-economic factors that may influence patient attitudes and responses to physiotherapy.</li> <li>2.2D display culturally competent and culturally safe practice.</li> <li>2.2E apply professional ethical principles to decision-making</li> <li>2.2F practise physiotherapy within the limits of their scope of practice and expertise</li> <li>2.2G consult, share knowledge, refer or delegate when encountering an issue outside their scope of practice and expertise</li> </ul>



- 2.3 recognise the need for, and implement, appropriate strategies to manage their physical and mental health and resilience
- 2.3A recognise the impact of stress and fatigue on their physical, mental health and resilience
- 2.3B seek appropriate guidance and support from relevant others to manage their physical and mental health and resilience
- 2.3C not knowingly expose the client or relevant others to increased risk associated with their (the physiotherapist's) physical and mental health and resilience

#### **Role 3: Communicator**

#### **Definition**

As communicators, physiotherapists use written, verbal and non-verbal methods to effectively and respectfully communicate with clients, family, whānau, other professionals, communities and relevant others and facilitate gathering and sharing of information as appropriate for the situation or context.

Key competencies	Enabling components
Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:
3.1 use clear, accurate, sensitive and effective communication to support the development of trust and rapport in professional relationships with the client and relevant others	<ul> <li>3.1A have available culturally safe patient/care giver information related to the service provided</li> <li>3.1B listen effectively to the client and relevant others and respond appropriately to verbal and non-verbal communication across face to face or digital engagement and have available culturally safe patient/caregiver information related to the service provider</li> <li>3.1C integrate communication technology into practice within relevant legal, professional and ethicalframeworks</li> <li>3.1D recognise the culture, level of language and technology proficiency, health literacy and comprehension ability of the client and relevant others and provide communication in accessible formats</li> <li>3.1E recognise their communication preferences are influenced by environmental factors and their ownculture</li> <li>3.1F recognise and adapt written, verbal and non-verbal communication to reflect the socio-cultural needs, language proficiency, comprehension, impairments, age and health literacy of the client and relevant others</li> </ul>
3.2 record and effectively communicate physiotherapy assessment findings, outcomes and decisions	<ul> <li>3.2A record the client's clinical, ethnicity data and relevant cultural needs and other information appropriately, accurately, legibly and in client- centred language as soon as practicable</li> <li>3.2B subject to any legal obligations, including client consent, discuss physiotherapy assessmentfindings and outcomes, and share decision- making with relevant parties including other professionals</li> <li>3.2C provide accurate and relevant information to insurers and other third parties</li> </ul>



3.3 deal effectively with actual and potential conflict in a proactive, professional and constructive manner

- 3.3A recognise when there is a risk of conflict with the client or relevant others and take timely and appropriate action to effectively manage that risk
- **3.3B** adapt communication to effectively resolve conflict with the client and relevant others through negotiation and cooperation, when relevant
- **3.3C** seek assistance, as appropriate, to mitigate risk of conflict and to resolve conflict with the client and relevant others
- 3.3D understand the impact of systemic racism and recognise the influence of one's own cultural identity on perceptions of and interactions with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples , Māori as tāngata whenua and other cultures ... in the context of Australia Aotearoa New Zealand



# Role 4: Reflective practitioner and self-directed learner

#### **Definition**

As reflective practitioners and self-directed learners, physiotherapists access best available research evidence to inform their practice and engage in critical reflection and relevant learning to maintain and enhance their professional competence and quality of their practice throughout their career.

Key competencies	Enabling component
Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:
4.1 assess their practice against relevant professional benchmarks and take action to continually improve their practice	<ul> <li>4.1A assess risks, quality of physiotherapy and the client's physical, verbal and non-verbal responses to physiotherapy throughout the therapeutic interaction</li> <li>4.1B reflect on their professional practice, engage in critical questioning of themselves and others and engage in ongoing personal and professional development to maintain and improve professional practice</li> <li>4.1C reflect on their culture and preferences to support cultural safety and cultural respect in their practice</li> <li>4.1D reflect on unconscious bias and how that affects engagement with your client, their care giver and your practice</li> <li>4.1E evaluate their professional support and guidance needs, and seek appropriate support and guidance to enhance professional competence, cultural safety and quality of practice</li> <li>4.1F engage in scholarly physiotherapy practice</li> <li>4.1G recognise opportunities to contribute to the development of new knowledge through research and enquiry</li> </ul>
4.2 evaluate their learning needs, engage in relevant continuing professional development and recognise when to seek professional support, including peer review	<ul> <li>4.2A evaluate their learning needs and gaps in professional competence as health workforce roles evolve and new roles and technologies emerge</li> <li>4.2B seek opportunities and engage in relevant activities to address their identified learning needs and maximise their learning</li> <li>4.2C initiate and implement strategies to develop and achieve realistic goals for their professional development in the workplace</li> <li>4.2D seek, accept, reflect on and respond appropriately to feedback from others in the practice context</li> <li>4.2E recognise different forms of cultural bias and associated stereotypes that impact on indigenous peoples' health and practice in a culturally sensitive and inclusive manner.</li> </ul>
4.3 efficiently consume and effectively apply research and commit to practice informed by best available research evidence and new knowledge	<ul> <li>4.3A find, appraise, interpret and apply best available research evidence to inform clinical reasoning and professional decision-making</li> <li>4.3B critically appraise, interpret and apply learning from continuing professional development, clinical data and client responses to physiotherapy</li> <li>4.3C measure outcomes, analyse clients' responses to physiotherapy and plan modifications to enhance therapeutic outcomes</li> <li>4.3D advocate for physiotherapy that is supported by best available research evidence</li> </ul>



4.4 proactively apply principles of quality improvement and risk management to practice	<ul> <li>4.4A recognise when their expertise, competence or culture will potentially create risk or compromise the quality of physiotherapy or expected outcomes, seek appropriate and timely assistance, guidance or professional support and engage in relevant learning to enhance relevant aspects of expertise or competence</li> <li>4.4B practise in accordance with relevant clinical guidelines and use evidence- based practice to improve quality and minimise risk</li> <li>4.4C measure and analyse outcomes of practice and implement modifications to enhance those outcomes</li> <li>4.4D identify, assess, appropriately manage, report on, reflect and learn from risks, treatment injury, near misses and their consequences, adverse events and relevant contributing factors</li> <li>4.4E recognise barriers to efficiency and effectiveness and facilitate strategies that lead to quality outcomes and improvement</li> </ul>
4.5 recognise situations that are outside their scope of expertise or competence and take appropriate and timely action	<ul> <li>4.5A reflect on the client's response and seek guidance or assistance to effectively manage the therapeutic interaction</li> <li>4.5B seek appropriate professional cultural guidance or assistance to effectively manage situations that are outside their scope of expertise or competence</li> </ul>



### **Role 5: Collaborative practitioner**

#### Definition

As collaborative practitioners, physiotherapists work in partnership with clients, their caregiver, relevant health professionals and relevant others to share decision-making and support achievement of agreed goals through inclusive, collaborative and consultative approaches within legal, cultural, ethical and professional frameworks.

Key competencies	Enabling components
Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:
5.1 engage in an inclusive, client centred, collaborative, consultative and where relevant culturally appropriate, and responsive model of practice	<ul> <li>5.1A obtain knowledge from, with and about clients, caregiver and relevant others</li> <li>5.1B work effectively, autonomously and collaboratively with the client, caregiver and relevant others in a way that acknowledges and respects the client's dignity, culture, rights and goals</li> <li>5.1C collaborate and participate in shared decision-making with the client and relevant others including caregiver as appropriate</li> <li>5.1D respect opinions expressed by the client, family, /whānau, other professionals and relevant others</li> <li>5.1E facilitate discussions with their clients and relevant others to negotiate and make decisions about physiotherapy for their clients</li> <li>5.1F when appropriate, educate the client and relevant others to implement therapy and monitor client response to that therapy</li> <li>5.1G actively identify and address barriers to effective interdisciplinary and cross sector collaboration</li> </ul>
5.2 engage in safe, effective and collaborative interprofessional practice within the wider health sector	<ul> <li>5.2A identify the key stakeholders relevant to practice</li> <li>5.2B recognise that the membership and roles of interprofessional teams and service providers will vary, depending on the client's needs and the context of physiotherapy</li> <li>5.2C collaborate effectively as a member of interprofessional teams that enhance clients' health care by contributing discipline knowledge and participating in collective reasoning and shared decision-making</li> <li>5.2D consult and share knowledge with professional colleagues, seek guidance, assistance or professional support in situations that are outside their expertise or competence or when outcomes of physiotherapy are not as expected</li> <li>5.2E gain cooperation and facilitate good working relationships with the client, caregivers and relevant others</li> <li>5.2F understand, acknowledge and respect the roles of others providing care and services for the client and work effectively and collaboratively with them</li> <li>5.2G make appropriate decisions to delegate responsibility to</li> <li>5.2H accept delegation from, others when it is safe, effective and appropriate</li> <li>5.2I work as part of a client-centred interprofessional team that keeps the client's interests at the centre of the care process and recognises barriers to, and facilitates pathways for, efficient transfer of client care, when relevant</li> <li>5.2J collaborate with the intra-professional and interprofessional team to develop, implement, monitor and update policies and guidelines informed by best available research evidence</li> </ul>



# **Role 6: Educator**

#### **Definition**

As educators, physiotherapists apply learning principles and strategies relevant to the practice context to facilitate learning by other professionals, students, clients, caregiver, relevant others, funders and/or insurers, communities and governments.

Key competencies	Enabling components
Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:
6.1 use education to empower themselves and provide knowledge to themselves and others	<ul> <li>6.1A apply adult learning principles to facilitate safe and effective learning and assumption of responsibility by other professionals, students, clients, relevant others and communities, taking into account, the level of knowledge, health literacy and role of the person they are educating</li> <li>6.1B support the education of other professionals and physiotherapy students</li> <li>6.1C educate physiotherapy assistants, health workers and relevant others to implement effective and safe therapy</li> <li>6.1D educate, motivate and empower the client, and relevant others to manage their health and well-being and implement self-management strategies</li> <li>6.1E recognise the educational value of learning experiences relevant to the physiotherapy setting</li> <li>6.1F use education and empowerment strategies to promote and optimise the client's health and well-being</li> </ul>
6.2 seek opportunities to lead the education of others, including physiotherapy students, as appropriate, within the physiotherapy setting	<ul> <li>6.2A initiate discussion and proactively recognise opportunities to educate others</li> <li>6.2B facilitate others' education</li> <li>6.2C model good practice which can include reflection, cultural safety, cultural competence and cultural responsiveness</li> <li>6.2D encourage and motivate others to engage in critical reflection and self- directed learning</li> <li>6.2E engage with others to initiate and implement strategies to support their professional development</li> </ul>



# Role 7: Manager/leader

#### Definition

As managers and leaders, physiotherapists manage their time, workload, resources and priorities and lead others effectively within relevant clinical and professional frameworks.

Key competencies	Enabling components
Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:	Registered physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand are able to:
7.1 organise and prioritise their workload and resources to provide safe, effective and efficient physiotherapy autonomously and, where relevant, as a team member	<ul> <li>7.1A use appropriate strategies to manage their workload safely, effectively and efficiently and actively seek guidance where required</li> <li>7.1B use appropriate skills, training, strategies and knowledge to effectively manage and supervise individuals and groups in their work environment</li> <li>7.1C recognise and respond appropriately to change, uncertainty and ambiguity in their work environment</li> <li>7.1D operate effectively across a range of settings, and adapt effectively to changes in the practice context</li> <li>7.1E adapt and, where relevant, innovate to achieve realistic goals within available resources</li> </ul>
7.2 lead others effectively and efficiently within relevant professional, ethical and legal frameworks	<ul> <li>7.2A positively influence workplace culture and practice through strategic thinking, advocacy, critical reflection, innovative problem solving and initiative</li> <li>7.2B recognise their leadership style and adapt their leadership skills as relevant to the practice context and a positive work culture</li> <li>7.2C encourage, support and motivate others to operate ethically, effectively and efficiently in the practice context</li> <li>7.2D recognise and report risks within the workplace, including those associated with cultural safety, and work proactively to promote a risk-free environment for clients and relevantothers</li> <li>7.2E advocate, facilitate and, when relevant, lead physiotherapy practice that is informed by best available research evidence, based on client-centred and family, whānau focused (where relevant) approaches, and incorporates cultural safety and respect</li> <li>7.2F facilitate change informed by best available research evidence when new ways of working are adopted in the practice context</li> <li>7.2G model the behaviour and qualities expected of others within the relevant frameworks.</li> <li>7.2H engage and assist others to review and pursue quality practice including steps to modify or remedy any areas identified for improvement.</li> </ul>



# **Glossary**

Term	Meaning in the context of the Physiotherapy practice thresholds
Activity limitation	Difficulties an individual may have in executing activities (World Health Organization, 2013).
Advocacy	Means speaking, acting or writing with minimal conflict of interest to support the interests of a person or group, to promote, protect and defend their rights or seek justice for individuals or groups, in a fashion that strives to be empathetic (adapted from Health Consumers Queensland, 2010).
Appropriate professional behaviour	Includes behaviour that is ethical, non-discriminatory, empathetic, respects socio- cultural differences and is consistent with relevant legislation and regulatory requirements.
Autonomous practitioner	The ability of a reflective practitioner to make independent judgments; open to initiate, terminate, or alter physical therapy intervention. It means the responsibility of the professional to manage his/her practice independently and to act according to the rules of ethics and the code of professional conduct within a framework of health legislation. (World Physiotherapy Glossary 2022)
Best available research evidence	Means information from valid and clinically relevant research conducted using sound methodology.
Client	May be an individual, a group of individuals, family/whānau, a community or an organisation.
Clinical expertise	The proficiency and judgement that individual clinicians acquire through clinical experience and clinical practice (Sackett et al, 1996).
Collaboration	When health practitioners from different professions work together with clients, families, carers and communities to deliver the highest quality care. Elements of effective collaborative practice include respect, trust, shared decision-making and partnerships (World Health Organization, 2010).
Competence	The ability of a physiotherapist to practise safely and effectively in a range of contexts and situations of varying levels of complexity. The level of an individual's competence in any situation will be influenced by many factors. These factors include, but are not limited to, the physiotherapist's qualifications, clinical experience, professional development and their ability to integrate knowledge, skills, attitudes, values and judgments.
Culture	Can include, but is not limited to, age, gender, sexual orientation, race, socio-economic status (including occupation), religion, physical, mental or other impairments, ethnicity and organisational culture (Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand / TePoari Tiaki Tinana o Aotearoa, 2011).
Cultural responsiveness	A core concept of client-centred practice that requires the physiotherapist to respond proactively to the health-care issues of socially and culturally diverse clients and relevant others. (Adapted from State of Victoria, Department of Health, 2009.)



Cultural Safety	Culturally safe practise is the ongoing critical reflection of health practitioner knowledge, skills, attitudes, practising behaviours and power differentials in delivering safe, accessible and responsive healthcare
Cultural Safety in the Australian context	Cultural safety is determined by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander individuals, families and communities.  Culturally safe practise is the ongoing critical reflection of health practitioner knowledge, skills, attitudes, practising behaviours and power differentials in delivering safe, accessible and responsive healthcare to Foster a safe working environment through leadership to support the rights and dignity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and colleagues free of racism.
	Where relevant, recognise the role of history and relationships between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples and white
Cultural competence	Cultural competence is defined as a set of congruent behaviours, attitudes and policies that come together in a system, agency, or among professionals and enables that system, agency or those professionals to work effectively in cross-cultural situations.
Disability	An umbrella term for impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions. It denotes the negative aspects of the interaction between a person's health condition(s) and that individual's contextual factors (environmental and personal factors) (World Health Organization, 2013).
Digital Competence	The confident and critical usage of the full range of digital technologies for information, communication and basic problem-solving.
Digital Health	The use of digital, mobile and wireless technologies in health. It is the application of data and information technology to gather, store, retrieve and study to improve processes, services, delivery of patient care and
Digital health practice	A term used to describe health care services, support, and information provided remotely via digital communication and devices.
Enabling components	Describe measurable components of the respective key competency at the level of competence required to practise as a registered physiotherapist in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. The language used in the enabling components reflects the complex conceptual, analytical and behavioural elements of threshold competence in practice.
Environmental factors	The physical, social and attitudinal environment in which people live and conduct their lives. These are either barriers to or facilitators of the person's functioning (World Health Organization, 2013).
Evidence-based practice	Is a problem-based approach where research evidence is used to inform clinical decision- making. It involves the integration of the best available research evidence with clinical expertise, each patient's values and circumstances, and consideration of the clinical (practice) context (Hoffmann, Bennett & Del Mar 2013, p 14).



Functioning	An umbrella term for body function, body structures, activities and participation. It denotes the positive or neutral aspects of the interaction between a person's health condition(s) and that individual's contextual factors (environmental and personal factors) (World Health Organization, 2013).
Fundamental legal responsibilities	Obligations arising from legal and regulatory frameworks including, but not limited to, frameworks that apply to health records, work health and safety, privacy and the physiotherapist's registration.
Habilitation	Refers to physiotherapy in situations when the client's impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions are associated with delayed or absent development of the associated abilities and function and the goal is to assist a client to learn, maintain or improve their abilities, function and health.
Health	A state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity (World Health Organization, 1946).
Health literacy	A client's knowledge, motivation and competence to access, understand, appraise and apply health information to make effective decisions and take appropriate action for their health and health care (Sørensen et al, 2012).
Health worker	Refers to all individuals engaged in actions with the primary intent being to enhance health. This includes those who promote and preserve health, those who diagnose and treat disease, health management and support workers, professionals with discrete and/or unique areas of competence, whether regulated or non-regulated, conventional or complementary (World Health Organization, 2006).
Impairments	Problems in body function and structure such as significant deviation or loss (World Health Organization, 2013).
Informed consent	Informed consent is a culturally sensitive interactive process between a physiotherapist and patient where the patient gains an understanding of their condition and receives an explanation of the options available including an assessment of the expected risks, side effects, benefits and costs of each option and thus can make an informed choice and give their informed consent.
Interprofessional practice	Two or more professions working together as a team with a common purpose, commitment and mutual respect (Dunston et al, 2009).
Key competency	Practise that is necessary for a physiotherapist to safely and effectively perform the central role of physiotherapy practitioner in a range of contexts and situations of varying levels



Mana motuhake	Enabling the right for Māori to be Māori (Māori self-determination); to exercise their authority over their lives, and to live on Māori terms and according to Māori philosophies, values and practices including tikanga Māori
Māori cultural safety	centres on the experience of Māori client patient, their whānau and community. to apply concepts of wairuatanga, whenua, whānau, whakawhānaungatanga, tikanga and te reo in settings which match the diverse cultural realities of Māori. Integration of concepts and approaches improve Māori experience of health care.
Mental health	A state of well-being in which every individual realises their potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to their community (World Health Organization, 2005).
Participation restriction	Problems an individual may experience in involvement in life situations (World Health Organization, 2013).
Physiotherapy assistant	A health-care worker who works under the supervision of a registered physiotherapist and who has a range of skills that allow a physiotherapist to confidently delegate a higher level of tasks than they would to other support workers. (Adapted from Australian Physiotherapy Association, 2008.)
Professional support	Requires the physiotherapist to engage with other professionals, including physiotherapists, to assist the physiotherapist in their professional practice. Support may occur in a range of ways including, but not limited to, seeking advice by referring a client to a more experienced physiotherapist.
Relevant others	As relevant to the context, this may be one or more of the following: a physiotherapist, other professional, a professional colleague, a member of the health-care team, physiotherapy student, physiotherapy assistant, health worker, carer, family/whānau, community.
Scholarly physiotherapy practice	Requires the physiotherapist to engage in activities so they remain well-informed of the literature and new research in their chosen field of practice, including through continuing professional development and interaction with peers, and to use that knowledge within their evidence-based practice.
Simulation	A technique that uses a situation or environment created to allow people to experience a representation of a real event for the purpose of practice, learning, evaluation, testing or to gain an understanding of systems or human actions (Australian Society for Simulation in Healthcare, 2012).
Tele-health	An extension of face-to-face consultation that allows clients, physiotherapists and relevant others to interact using communication information technologies such as email, video or telephone conferencing,



Threshold competence	The level of competence across the specified key competencies required to practise as a registered physiotherapist in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.
Well-being	A state in which an individual has the physical capacity, mental health and social resources they need to successfully manage a particular psychological, social and/or physical challenge (Dodge et al, 2012).
Whānau	This is generally described as a collective of people connected (familial) through a common ancestor (whakapapa) or as the result of a common purpose (kaupapa). Whakapapa and kaupapa are not mutually exclusive.



#### **Bibliography**

Ash, S, Dowding, K & Phillips, S (2011) Mixed methods research approach to the development and review of competency standards for dietitians, Nutrition and Dietetics 68(4): 305–315.

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (2010) Australian Safety and Quality Framework for Health Care, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Sydney.

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (2013) Consumers, the Health System and Health Literacy: Taking action to improve safety and quality. Consultation Paper, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Sydney.

Australian Medical Council (2012) Standards for Assessment and Accreditation of Primary Medical Programs by the Australian Medical Council, Australian Medical Council, Kingston, Canberra.

Australian Physiotherapy Association (2008) Working with a Physiotherapy Assistant or Other Support Worker, Australian Physiotherapy Association, Melbourne.

Australian Physiotherapy Council (2006) Australian Standards for Physiotherapy, Australian Physiotherapy Council, Canberra.

Australian Society for Simulation in Healthcare (2012) Australian Society for Simulation in Healthcare Simulation Directory Data Dictionary, Health Workforce Australia, Adelaide.

Barr, H (2009) Competent to collaborate: Towards a competency-based model for interprofessional education, Journal of Interprofessional Care 12(2): 181–187.

Brewer, M & Jones, S (2013) An interprofessional practice capability framework focusing on safe, high quality client centred health service, Journal of Allied Health 42(2): 45–9E.

Dalton, M, Davidson, M & Keating, J (2011) The Assessment of Physiotherapy Practice (APP) is a valid measure of professional competence of physiotherapy students: A cross-sectional study with Rasch analysis, Journal of Physiotherapy 57(4): 239–246.

Dodge, R, Daly, A, Huyton, J & Sanders, L (2012) The challenge of defining wellbeing,

International Journal of Wellbeing 2(3): 222–235.

Dunston, R, Lee, A, Lee, A, Matthews, L, Nisbet, G, Pockett, R, Thistlethwaite, J & White, J (2009) Interprofessional health education in Australia: The way forward, University of Technology, Sydney and The University of Sydney, Sydney.

Englander, R, Cameron, T, Ballard, A, Dodge, J, Bull, J & Aschenbrener, C (2013) Toward a common taxonomy of competency domains for the health professions and competencies for physicians, Academic Medicine 88(8): 1088–1094.

Frank, JR (ed) (2005) The CanMEDS 2005 Physician Competency Framework: Better standards, better physicians, better care, Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada, Ottawa.

Frank, JR & Danoff, D (2007) The CanMEDS initiative: Implementing an outcomes-based framework of physician competencies, Medical Teacher 29(7): 642–647.

Frank, JR, Snell, LS, Sherbino, J, et al (2014) The Draft CanMEDS 2015 Physician Competency Framework – Series III, Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada, Ottawa.

Hager, P & Gonczi, A (2009) What is competence? Medical Teacher 18(1): 15–18.



Health and Care Professions Council (2013) Standards of Proficiency – Physiotherapists, Health and Care Professions Council, London.

Health Consumers Queensland (2010) Health Advocacy Framework, Queensland Health, Brisbane.

Health Workforce Australia (2011) Growing Our Future: The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Worker Project Final Report, Health Workforce Australia, Adelaide.

Health Workforce Australia (2012) National Common Health Capability Resource: Shared activities and behaviours in the Australian health workforce. Health Workforce Australia, Adelaide.

Health Workforce New Zealand (2013) Health Workforce New Zealand: Annual Plan 2013/14. Ministry of Health, Wellington.

Hoffmann, T, Bennett, S & Del Mar, C (2013) Evidence-based Practice Across the Health Professions 2nd edition, Elsevier Australia, Sydney.

Indigenous Allied Health Australia (2013a) Position Paper: Access to allied health services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, Indigenous Allied Health Australia, Canberra.

Indigenous Allied Health Australia (2013b) Position Paper: Culturally responsive health care, Indigenous Allied Health Australia, Canberra.

Khan, K & Ramachandran, S (2012) Conceptual framework for performance assessment: Competency, competence and performance in the context of assessments in healthcare – deciphering the terminology, Medical Teacher 34(11): 920–928.

Leotta, G (2013) Cultural Competency Scoping Project Final Report, New South Wales Government, Sydney.

Lester, S (2014) Professional standards and competence frameworks in the United Kingdom,

Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 39(1): 38-52.

Ministry of Health (2010) The Credentialling Framework for New Zealand Health Professionals, Ministry of Health, Wellington.

Ministry of Health and District Health Boards New Zealand Workforce Group (2007)

A Career Framework for the Health Workforce in New Zealand, Ministry of Health and District Health Boards New Zealand, Wellington.

National Physiotherapy Advisory Group (2009) Essential Competency Profile for Physiotherapists in Canada, Canadian Alliance of Physiotherapy Regulators, Toronto.

Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand (2009) Physiotherapy Competencies for Physiotherapy Practice in New Zealand, Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand, Wellington.

Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand/ Te Poari Tiaki Tinana o Aotearoa (2018) Cultural competence standard, Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand, Wellington.

Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand/ Te Poari Tiaki Tinana o Aotearoa (2022) He kawa whakaruruhau ā matatau Māori: Māori cultural safety and competence standard, Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand, Wellington.

Reanga New Zealand Consultancy (2012) Whakapuawaitia Ngai Māori 2030 - Thriving as

Māori 2030: Māori Health Workforce Priorities, Ministry of Health, Wellington.



Ringsted, C, Hansen, TL, Davis, D & Scherpbier, A (2006) Are some of the challenging aspects of the CanMEDS roles valid outside Canada? Medical Education 40(8): 807–815.

Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy (2006) The Professional Profile of the Physical Therapist, Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF), Amersfoort, The Netherlands.

Sackett, D, Rosenberg, WMC, Gray, JAM, Hayne, R & Richardson, W (1996) Evidence based medicine: What it is and what it isn't, British Medical Journal 312: 71–72.

Sørensen, K, Van den Broucke, S, Fullam, J, Doyle, G, Pelikan, J, Slonska, Z, et al (2012) Health Literacy and Public Health: A systematic review and integration of definitions and models, BMC Public Health 12(80).

State of Victoria, Department of Health (2009) Cultural Responsiveness Framework: Guidelines for Victorian health services, Rural and Regional Health and Aged Care Services, Victorian Government, Department of Health, Melbourne.

The Interprofessional Curriculum Renewal Consortium (2014) Curriculum Renewal for Interprofessional Education in Health, Commonwealth of Australia, Office of Teaching and Learning, Canberra.

Verma, S, Broers, T, Paterson, M, Schroder, C, Medves, J & Morrison, C (2009) Core competencies: The next generation – comparison of a common framework for multiple professions, Journal of Allied Health 38(1): 47–53. World Confederation for Physical Therapy (2011) WCPT Guideline for Physical Therapist Professional Entry Level Education, World Confederation for Physical Therapy, London.

World Health Organization (1946) Preamble to the Constitution of the World Health Organization as adopted by the International Health Conference, New York, 19–22 June; signed on 22 July 1946 by the representatives of 61 States (Official Records of the World Health Organization, no. 2, p. 100) and entered into force on 7 April 1948.

World Health Organization (2005) Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice: A report of the World Health Organization, World Health Organization, Geneva.

World Health Organization (2006) World Health Report 2006 – Working together for health, World Health Organization, Geneva.

World Health Organization (2010) Framework for Action on Interprofessional Education and Collaborative Practice, World Health Organization, Geneva.

World Health Organization (2013) How to Use the ICF: A practical manual for using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). Exposure draft for comment October 2013, World Health Organization, Geneva

#### Appendix 1: Regulation of physiotherapists in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand

Physiotherapy is regulated within a statutory framework within both Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand, and registration is a statutory requirement for legal practice as a physiotherapist in both countries.

A person must be registered if they want to practise as a physiotherapist and/or refer to themselves as a 'physiotherapist'.

Although this document sets out threshold competencies for registered physiotherapists in both countries, different legislation applies in each country, and a physiotherapist must be registered in the country in which they want to practise.

In both countries, statutory regulation creates ongoing requirements for physiotherapists to maintain their registration beyond the initial requirements for registration. These ongoing requirements include compliance



with registration standards, maintenance of professional competence and engagement in continuing professional development.

In Australia, physiotherapists are regulated by the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law Act as in force in each state and territory (National Law). Physiotherapists must be registered with the Physiotherapy Board of Australia.

More information about registration and regulation of physiotherapists in Australia is available at www.physiotherapyboard.gov.au

In Aotearoa New Zealand, physiotherapists are regulated by the Health Practitioners Competence Assurance Act 2003 (HPCA Act). Physiotherapists must be registered with the Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand. More information about registration and regulation of physiotherapists in Aotearoa New Zealand is available at www.physioboard.org.nz

The Code of Health and Disability Services Consumers' Rights (NZ) (the Code) sets out the rights of clients who receive health and disability services in New Zealand, and creates corresponding duties and obligations of providers of those services, including

physiotherapists. Under the Code, every client has the right to have services provided that comply with legal, professional, ethical and other relevant standards.

The Australian Charter of Healthcare Rights applies to all health settings anywhere in Australia, including public hospitals, private hospitals, general practice and other community environments. It allows patients, consumers, families, carers and service providers to have a common understanding of the rights of people receiving health care.



## Attachment B: Statement of assessment against Ahpra's Procedures for the development of registration standards, codes, guidelines

## Proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds)

The Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (Ahpra) has *Procedures for the development of registration standards*, codes and guidelines which are available at:

#### https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Resources/Procedures.aspx

The procedures have been developed by Ahpra in accordance with Section 25 of the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law as in force in each state and territory (the National Law) requires Ahpra to establish procedures for the purpose of ensuring that the National Registration and Accreditation Scheme (the National Scheme) operates in accordance with good regulatory practice.

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (Board) is reviewing its Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds), and even though the Physiotherapy practice Thresholds are not registration standard, code or guideline the Physiotherapy Board of Australia has assesses them against to same principles in order to maintain consistency and good regulatory practice.

Below is the Physiotherapy Board's assessment of its proposal for a revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds) against the three elements outlined in the Ahpra procedures.

1. The proposal takes into account the objectives and guiding principles in the National Law (sections 3 and 3A) and draws on available evidence, including regulatory approaches by health practitioner regulators in countries with comparable health systems

#### **National Board assessment**

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia proposal takes into account the National Scheme's paramount principle of protecting the public and maintaining public confidence in the safety of services provided by health practitioners by ensuring that only practitioners who are suitably trained and qualified to practise as a physiotherapist in a competent and ethical manner are granted specialist registration. The thresholds themselves are not a barrier to registration, however they do set the expectations of what is required.

The Proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (the Practice thresholds) also supports the National Scheme to operate in a transparent, accountable, efficient, effective and fair way, by clearly setting out the Physiotherapy practice thresholds requirements for accredited programs of study.

The proposal has considered the high level of accreditation requirements and significant body of evidence referenced in the Proposed practice thresholds as part of this high-level review.



2. Steps have been taken to achieve greater consistency within the national scheme (for example, by adopting any available template, guidance or good practice approaches used by national scheme bodies), and the consultation requirements of the National Law are met

#### National Board assessment

The review of the Proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds) has been informed by a consistent approach of competency thresholds adopted by many of the regulated health care profession by meeting the objectives and guiding principles of the National Law.

The National Law requires wide-ranging consultation on the proposed standards, codes, and guidelines. The National Law also requires National Boards to consult each other on matters of shared interest. Preliminary consultation was the first step in the consultation process. The practice thresholds were shared with all National Boards and key stakeholders for comment and feedback during a preliminary consultation in 2022.

The Physioherapy Board of Australia will now ensure that there is the opportunity for broader public comment via an eight week public consultation in the coming months of 2023. This includes publishing a consultation paper on the National Board and Ahpra website and informing health practitioners and the community of the review via the National Board's electronic newsletter and a social media campaign.

The physiotherapy Board will consider the feedback they receive when finalising the draft Proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds).

The proposal takes into account the principles set out in the Ahpra procedures

The Board makes the following assessment specific to each of the principles expressed in the Ahpra procedures.

Whether the proposal is the best option for achieving the proposal's stated purpose and protection of the public

#### National Board assessment

The Physiotherapy Board considers that this proposal is the best option for achieving public safety, high quality and professional practice and regulatory effectiveness.

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (PhysioBA) and the Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand (PBNZ) are authorities responsible for the regulation of the physiotherapy profession in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand respectively, including the registration of physiotherapists and the accreditation of programs of study leading to approval of qualifications for registration as a physiotherapist.

The PhysioBA and PBNZ have developed joint physiotherapy practice thresholds that describe entry-level practice for the physiotherapy profession in both Australia and New Zealand.

The minor changes the Board proposes to the existing Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds) editorial changes to improve readability and clarify current requirements and include contemporary language and definitions in relation to cultural safety and digital competence. The purpose of adding these changes to enhance the practice thresholds is to better represent the wider community and first nations people by having this an entry level program requirement.



The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (PhysioBA) and the Physiotherapy Board of New Zealand (PBNZ) are authorities responsible for the regulation of the physiotherapy profession in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand respectively, including the registration of physiotherapists and the accreditation of programs of study leading to approval of qualifications for registration as a physiotherapist.

The physiotherapy practice thresholds are developed to meet the needs of both Australia and New Zealan

Whether the proposal results in an unnecessary restriction of competition among health practitioners

#### National Board assessment

The proposal is unlikely to restrict competition as the proposal does not change current requirements for registration, nor is it a barrier to registration in any way. It is not expected to impact on the current levels of competition among health practitioners.

The proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds) continues to set appropriate and reasonable requirements for describe entry-level practice for the physiotherapy profession in both Australia and New Zealand.

#### Whether the proposal results in an unnecessary restriction of consumer choice

#### National Board assessment

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia considers that the proposal will not result in any unnecessary restrictions of consumer choice as the proposal will enable practitioners to become suitably trained and qualified when they graduate from an accredited program of study.

A. Whether the overall costs of the proposal to members of the public and/or registrants and/or governments are reasonable in relation to the benefits to be achieved

#### National Board assessment

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia has closely considered the potential costs associated with the proposal and as the proposal does not change current requirements for accreditation, the Board does not expect any additional costs to the public, practitioners, or government.

The public will benefit from Physiotherapy practice thresholds as they ensure only practitioners who are suitably trained to become qualified to graduate from an accredited program of study.

B. Whether the proposal's requirements are clearly stated using 'plain language' to reduce uncertainty, enable the public to understand the requirements, and enable understanding and compliance by registrants

#### National Board assessment

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia is committed to a plain English approach that will help practitioners and the public understand and apply the requirements of competition among health practitioners.

The Board considers that proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds) have been written in plain English that will help practitioners and the public to understand the requirements for accreditation. The Board has changed minor words which focus on including cultural safety and digital competence.

C. Whether the Board has procedures in place to ensure that the proposed registration standard, code or guideline remains relevant and effective over time



#### National Board assessment

Physiotherapy Board of Australia has procedures in place to regularly review and monitor the effectiveness of the document through a thorough evaluation process. The proposed revised

Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds) are evaluated at least every five years.

The proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds)

If approved, the Board will schedule the next review for the Physiotherapy practice thresholds in five years, however the Board may choose to review this earlier, in response to any issues which arise, or new evidence which emerges to ensure its continued relevance and workability.



# Attachment C: National Boards' Patient and Consumer Health and Safety Impact Statement

#### **Statement purpose**

The National Boards' Patient and Consumer Health and Safety Impact Statement (Statement)<sup>6</sup> explains the potential impacts of a proposed competency thresholds on the health and safety of the public, vulnerable members of the community and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples.

The four key components considered in the Statement are:

The potential impact of the proposed revisions to the registration standard on the health and safety of patients and consumers particularly vulnerable members of the community including approaches to mitigate any potential negative or unintended effects.

The potential impact of the proposed revisions to the competency thresholds on the health and safety of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples including approaches to mitigate any potential negative or unintended effects.

Engagement with patients and consumers, particularly vulnerable members of the community about the proposal.

Engagement with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples about the proposal.

The National Boards' Health and Safety Impact Statement aligns with the National Scheme's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health and Cultural Safety Strategy 2020-2025, National Scheme engagement strategy 2020-2025, the National Scheme Strategy 2020-25 and reflect key aspects of the revised consultation process in the Ahpra Procedures for developing registration standards, codes and guidelines and accreditation standards.

Below is the Board's initial assessment of the potential impact of a proposed revised Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds) on the health and safety of patients and consumers, particularly vulnerable members of the community, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples. This assessment will be updated after consultation feedback.

How will this proposal impact on patient and consumer health and safety, particularly vulnerable members of the community? Will the impact be different for vulnerable members compared to the general public?

The revised Physiotherapy practice thresholds proposes minor changes, including editorial changes, with inclusion of cultural safety and it's definition to improve readability and clarify current requirements.

The Physiotherapy Board of Australia (Board) has considered the impacts that the proposal could have on patient and consumer health and safety, particularly on vulnerable members of the community.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This statement has been developed by Ahpra and the National Boards in accordance with section 25(c) and 35(c) of the *Health Practitioner Regulation National Law* as in force in each state and territory (the National Law). Section 25(c) requires Ahpra to establish procedures for ensuring that the National Registration and Accreditation Scheme (the National Scheme) operates in accordance with good regulatory practice. Section 35(c) assigns the National Boards functions to develop or approve standards, codes and guidelines for the health profession including the development of registration standards for approval by the Health Council and that provide guidance to health practitioners registered in the profession. Section 40 of the National Law requires National Boards to ensure that there is wideranging consultation during the development of a registration standard, code, or guideline.



In doing so, the Board considered the National Scheme's key objective of protecting the public by ensuring only practitioners who are suitably trained and qualified to practise in a competent and ethical manner are registered. The proposed revised Physiotherapy practice thresholds supports that objective by ensuring that only practitioners who are appropriately trained and qualified to practise the as a physiotherapist. in a competent and ethical manner.

The Board does not expect that the revisions to the Physiotherapy practice thresholds will have any adverse impacts on patient and consumer safety, particularly vulnerable members of the community. However, our engagement through consultation will help us to better understand possible outcomes and meet our responsibilities to protect patient safety and health care quality.

## How will consultation engage with patients and consumers, particularly vulnerable members of the community?

In line with our <u>consultation processes</u> the Board is undertaking wide-ranging consultation. We will engage with patients and consumers bodies, peak bodies and other relevant organisations to get input and views from vulnerable members of the community.

## What might be the unintended impacts for patients and consumers particularly vulnerable members of the community? How will these be addressed?

The proposal does not change current requirements for accreditation and does not propose additional requirements that would impact on patients and consumers. The Board does not expect there to be any unintended impacts for patients and consumers, including vulnerable members of the community.

Consulting with relevant organisations and vulnerable members of the community will help us to identify any other potential impacts. We will fully consider and take actions to address any unintended impacts for patients and consumers that may be raised during consultation particularly for vulnerable members of the community.

How will this proposal impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples? How will the impact be different for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples compared to non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples?

The proposal does not change current requirements for accreditation and does not propose additional requirements that would impact on practitioners, patients and consumers. Therefore, the Board does not expect there to be any negative impacts on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples as a result of the proposal.

The Board's engagement through wide-ranging consultation will help us to identity any potential impacts and meet our responsibilities to protect safety and health care quality for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples.

#### How will consultation about this proposal engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples?

The Board is committed to the National Scheme's <u>Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Health and Safety Strategy 2020-2025</u> which focuses on achieving patient safety for Aboriginal and Torres Islander Peoples as the norm, and the inextricably linked elements of clinical and <u>cultural safety</u>.

As part of our consultation process, we have tried to find the best way to meaningfully engage with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples. We are continuing to engage with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and stakeholders. The draft document was reviewed by Ahpra Health Strategy team which included feedback from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander representatives.

What might be the unintended impacts for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples? How will these be addressed?



The proposal does not change current requirements for registration or accreditation as it is not a standard. The physiotherapy practice threshold do however, include cultural safety references and definitions.

The Board has considered what might be any unintended impacts for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples. While the Board does not expect there to be any unintended impacts, our engagement with relevant organisations and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples will help us to identify any potential impacts.

We will consider and take action to address any other potential negative impacts for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples that may be raised during consultation.

#### How will the impact of this proposal be actively monitored and evaluated?

Part of the Board's work in keeping the public safe is ensuring that standards, codes and guidelines are regularly reviewed. Even though this is not a standard, code or guideline, the Board will monitor and regularly review the revised Physiotherapy practice thresholds at 5 yearly intervals as part of this work to check it is working as intended.



# Attachment D: Response template for providing feedback on the updated Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds)

This response template is the preferred way to provide your response to the preliminary consultation on the update of the Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (Physiotherapy practice thresholds).

Please provide your responses to all or some of the questions in the text boxes on the following pages. You do not need to respond to a question if you have no comment.

#### Making a submission

Please complete this response template and send to **physioconsultations@ahpra.gov.au** using the subject line 'Feedback on update of the Physiotherapy Practice Thresholds in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand'.

The Board generally publishes submissions on its website to encourage discussion and inform the community and stakeholders. Published submissions will include the names of the individuals and/or the organisations that made them, unless confidentiality is expressly requested.

Submissions are due by close of business on 30 June 2023.

#### Stakeholder details

Please provide your details in the following table:

Name:	
Organisation Name:	

Your responses to the preliminary consultation questions

1.	Is the content and language of the proposed changes clear? Why or why not?



2.	How appropriate are the draft changes? Please provide details.
_	
3.	Do you agree or disagree with the proposed draft changes to the practice thresholds? Please provide details.
4.	Please describe anything that needs to be changed or deleted in regard to the proposed <u>draft changes.</u>
_	
5.	Is there anything that needs to be added to the Prctice Thresholds?



6.	It is proposed that the Practice Thresholds will be reviewed every five years. Is this reasonable?
7.	Do you have any additional comments or feedback on the draft proposed amendments to the practice thresholds?
0	Disease describe anything classific Describe should consider in the review of the Drestice
8.	Please describe anything else the Boards should consider in the review of the Practice Thresholds?